2000

Julian Dean Hatch and Lynn Mitchell v. The Boulder Town Council, The Boulder Excavating Company, Sam Stout and Rhea Thompson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction to hear this matter pursuant to Section 78-2-2(3)(j), Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended). This appeal, however, is subject to assignment to the Utah Court of Appeals, and has been transferred to the Utah Court of Appeals, pursuant to Section 78-2-2(4), Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Town of Boulder strictly comply with Utah's statutory requirements, which enable municipalities to enact zoning ordinances? Strict compliance with Utah's enabling statutes is required. This is reviewed for correctness. Springville Citizens v. City of Springville, 972 P.2d 332 (Utah 1999).

2. Is the zoning Ordinance vague, ambiguous and unconstitutional, making it illegal under due process standards; and/or will it inevitably result in arbitrary and capricious enforcement? The appellate court's interpretation of an ordinance is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. Town of Alta v. Ben Hame Corp., 836 P.2d 797, 800 (Ut.App. 1992). Is the term "commercial" vague and ambiguous as used in the Ordinance? No extrinsic evidence was presented on this issue; therefore, it is also a legal question, reviewed for correctness. Buehner Block Co. v. UWC Assoc., 752 P.2d 892, 895 (Utah 1988).

3. Did the Town of Boulder violate the terms and conditions of its own zoning Ordinance in granting the conditional use permits for the Respondents? Municipal

zoning authorities are bound by the terms and standards of their own zoning ordinances and are not at liberty to make land use decisions in derogation thereof. This is reviewed for correctness. Springville Citizens, *supra*.

4. Was there substantial evidence presented to the trial court to support the granting of the conditional use permits, or was the Town's decision arbitrary and capricious? Since there was no evidence presented on behalf of the Town, this should be reviewed for correctness. Springville Citizens, *supra*.

5. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in consolidating the preliminary injunction hearing with a full fledged trial on the merits, without prior notice to counsel, and after the close of evidence at the preliminary injunction hearing? Did the trial court err in presuming that it had heard all of the evidence in the case that could be presented at trial? This is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. Lessona Corp. v. Varta Batteries, Inc., 522 F.Supp. 1304 (D.C.N.Y. 1981).

6. Did the trial court err in accepting the oral argument of Respondent's counsel as evidence in the case? This should be reviewed for correctness. State v. Diaz, 859 P.2d 19, 23 (Ut.App. 1993), cert. denied 878 P.2d 1154 (Utah 1994).

7. Does the admissible evidence when marshaled support the findings of fact entered by the trial court? Specifically:

- (1) That there was an officially adopted map to correspond with the zoning Ordinance; (Findings ¶ 4; Record 318-319).

- (2) That the parties agreed regarding the location of the properties at issue, within the specified districts of the zoning Ordinance; (Findings ¶ 4; Record 318-319).
- (3) That there is substantial evidence to support the granting of the conditional use permits, when there was no evidence presented to the trial court. (Findings ¶s 6, 7 and 8; Record 319).
- (4) That the Stout residence is designated by the Ordinance as “District 6, Medium Density Residential;” and the Thompson Ranch property is designated by the Ordinance as “District 2, Green belt/Multiple Use Lands;” when there was no official zoning map introduced at the hearing, identifying the nine (9) zoning districts of the Ordinance. (Findings ¶s 9 & 10; and ¶s 28 & 29; Record 320 and 323).
- (5) That the Respondent, Boulder Excavating Company, appeared at a Town Council meeting and stated its reasons why the decision of the Planning Commission should be affirmed, when there is no evidence of this at the hearing. (Findings ¶ 13; Record 321).
- (6) That Boulder Excavating prior to the hearing, caused a garage, authorized by the Conditional Use Permit for the Stout property,

to be largely constructed, up to and including a roof and roofing. Installation of siding of some finish work remained; that the garage and related landscaping and screening were the only physical improvements authorized or required by the Conditional Use Permits. (Findings ¶ 18; Record 321). No one testified to this.

- (7) That the uses for which the Conditional Use Permits were granted are compatible with other uses authorized and existing in the same districts. (Findings ¶ 25; Record 322). No one testified to this. The only testimony was of Hatch and Mitchell that they were not compatible.
- (8) That the Ordinance by its terms authorizes the issuance of the Conditional Use Permits granted to Boulder Excavating Company. (Finding ¶ 27; Record 323). The only testimony was of Hatch and Mitchell that the issuance was in direct violation of the Ordinance.
- (9) That Petitioners failed to show that they were irreparably harmed by the issuance of the Conditional Use Permits, or that any harm could be avoided by issuance of a preliminary injunction. (Conclusion ¶ 6; Record 324).

(10) That the Petitioners acted in bad faith without an honest belief in their claims, but with the sole intent to take unconscionable advantage of Boulder Excavating Company and the Town of Boulder. (Conclusion on Atty's Fees, ¶s 5 & 7; Record 362).

To overturn these factual findings, the appellant must marshal all the evidence in support of the finding and show that it is legally insufficient. Heber City Corp. v. Simpson, 942 P.2d 307 (Utah 1997). Since the Respondents did not present any evidence at the hearing, there is no evidence to marshal.

8. Did the trial court err in failing to consider all of the evidence, and exhibits entered into evidence by Petitioners, before making its ruling dismissing the Petition? This is a legal issue subject to full review. State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994).

9. Did the trial court err in reaching the legal conclusion that the matter was brought "without merit"? This is a legal question, subject to de novo review. Pennington v. Allstate Ins. Co., 973 P.2d 932 (Utah 1998).

STANDARD FOR REVIEW

The standard of review for each of the above-numbered issues, is set forth above, following the statement of each issue.

PRESERVATION FOR REVIEW

The issues presented above were preserved for review, in Petitioners' memoranda filed with the trial court. (Record 73-153; 240-249; 297-316); the objections to findings filed with the trial court. (Record 250-261; 337-343); and during the preliminary injunction hearing. (Record 388).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Proceedings

On July 15, 1999, a Petition was filed in the Sixth District Court for judicial review of the Town of Boulder's enactment of a zoning ordinance and the subsequent approval of conditional use permits for the Respondents, Boulder Excavating Company, Sam Stout, and Rhea Thompson, to operate a commercial business in the Town of Boulder next to Petitioner's property. (Petition, Record 1). An Answer to the Petition was filed by the Town of Boulder on August 16, 1999. (Answer, Record 64).

The Petition also sought injunctive relief and the Petitioners moved the court for a preliminary injunction to stop further construction and operation of the business, pending a determination by the court at the conclusion of trial. (Motion for Preliminary Injunction, Record 71). The Petitioners' Motion, Memorandum in Support, and Affidavits of Hatch and Mitchell were filed and served on the Respondents. (Record 160-173) Respondents filed memoranda in opposition before the hearing. (Record 174 & 212)

The preliminary injunction hearing was scheduled for August 31, 1999, by the trial court, with counsel for the parties. A Notice of Hearing was served by mail on counsel for the Town of Boulder, (Record 162) who had already filed an Answer in the case (Record 64-70); and was personally served on counsel for Boulder Excavating Company on August 24, 1999. (Record 171-173). No objections, or requests for additional time were filed by either of the opposing parties.

At the hearing, both Hatch and Mitchell took the stand and testified concerning the enactment of the zoning ordinance; that they were present before the Planning Commission and in Town meetings, and that the Town failed to comply with Utah's statutory procedures in adopting the zoning Ordinance; e.g., there was no official map adopted with the zoning Ordinance, with nine (9) corresponding districts as designated in the zoning Ordinance. They also testified that they expressed their concerns about the term "commercial" and how it was used in the Ordinance, that it made the Ordinance contradictory, vague and unconstitutional. (Hearing Transcript, Record 388, p. 64).

Hatch and Mitchell also testified about the Town's improper procedure in granting the conditional use permits to the Respondents, which was done in total disregard to the provisions in the zoning Ordinance the Town had tried to enact, and that it was done in an arbitrary and capricious fashion, without any substantial evidence to support the Town's decision. (Record 388, pp. 57-62).

During their testimony, Hatch and Mitchell attempted to read from written statements, which had been previously prepared and read to the Town in Town meetings. These letters contained the Petitioners' concerns with the Ordinance and the conditional use permits. These letters were admitted into evidence, and contained, among other things, the specific violations that were made under the terms of the Ordinance, and the lack of substantial evidence, which the Town needed in order to grant the conditional use permits. The court however, would not allow these letters to be read, but indicated that it would read them later. (Record 388, p. 62).

Hatch and Mitchell testified as to how they had been prejudiced in the enjoyment of their property as a result of the illegal Ordinance, and they further testified about the irreparable damage occurring to their property, and the potential damage they would suffer. (Record 388, pp. 65-68).

No one testified on behalf of the Town. No evidence was presented by the Town, and no evidence was presented to the court to substantiate the Town's enactment of the zoning ordinance, or the Town's decision in granting the conditional use permits. No evidence or record was presented to the court, of the enactment of the zoning Ordinance, or the factors considered by the Town in granting the conditional use permits. (Record 221).

At the end of the hearing, and after the close of evidence, the trial court then thought that the matter should be consolidated with a full trial. The court then presumed that it had heard all of the Petitioner's evidence that would be presented at the time of trial and

dismissed the Petition. This was done without any advance notice to counsel. (Record 388, pp. 203-204).

The Petitioners never had the opportunity to put on all of their evidence; and the Town didn't put on any evidence. The court prematurely dismissed the Petitioner's claims, while accepting the oral argument of Respondent's counsel as evidence for the Town. As a result the Petitioners never had an opportunity to object to the admissibility of the evidence or to cross-examine the Town's witnesses.

Based upon the court's premature dismissal, the Respondents sought their attorney's fees, but were not prepared to give any legitimate reason or legal basis for the fees. The court therefore, left the issue of attorney's fees open for further determination. (Record 388, p. 205). The court eventually granted attorney's fees based on Utah's Bad Faith Statute, § 78-27-56 U.C.A. (1953, as amended) (Record 362), although the court made no factual findings at the end of the hearing that the matter was brought in bad faith or "without merit." The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on the injunction hearing, were signed on November 10, 1999. (Record 317-326).

The court entered its final Findings of Fact, Conclusions and Order on Motion for Attorneys Fees on February 8, 2000, finding that the Petition was in bad faith and without merit in conclusory terms, while failing to cite to any specific supporting facts that were actually introduced in evidence. (Record 358-364). The Petitioners filed their Notice of Appeal on February 28, 2000. (Record 367-370).

Statement of the Facts

1. The Town of Boulder is a political subdivision of the State of Utah, located in Garfield County. (Petition ¶ 1, Record 2). The Petitioners and Appellants, Julian Dean Hatch and Lynne Mitchell (hereinafter “Hatch”) are residents of the Town of Boulder. (Petition ¶ 4, Record 2).

2. The two (2) properties at issue in this case are located at 195 North 300 East, belonging to Sam Stout (“Stout Site”); the other is located at 4270 North Highway 12, (“Thompson Ranch”) owned by former Boulder Town Council member, Rhea Thompson. (Petition ¶ 5, Record 2).

3. On or about May 29, 1998, the Town of Boulder passed Ordinance No. 39 (Record 13-60 and Addendum B), which was then amended on or about January 12, 1999. Ordinance 39 was designed and enacted to implement the goals and objectives of the Boulder Town 1997 General Plan, which was to preserve the quite rural/agricultural quality of life enjoyed by the residents of the Town of Boulder. (Petition ¶s 9 & 10, Record 3-4).

4. Ordinance 39 contains a provision in PART III entitled “Conditional Uses.” Part III(B) provides:

B. PERMIT REQUIRED

A conditional use permit is required for all uses listed as conditional uses in the district regulations or elsewhere in this ordinance. No building permit or other permit or license shall be issued for a conditional use without first being reviewed and approved by the Town Planning Commission, or on appeal, by the Town Council. (Ord. p. 7, Record 20).

5. Ordinance No. 39, Subparagraph (E), provides PUBLIC HEARING REQUIRED; and subparagraph (F) lists the SITE DEVELOPMENT PLAN REQUIREMENTS for a conditional use permit as follows:

1. Name, address, and phone number of applicant;
and,
2. Location and dimension of the property and of
any buildings or other structures on the property; and,
3. Location and dimension of any proposed
structures, parking facilities, etc. that are associated with the
proposed use; and,
4. Location of roads and utilities that are now
serving or will be required to serve the property; and,
5. Percentages that existing and proposed structures
(to include roads, parking, etc.) will cover said parcel; and,
6. A topographical map at 2 ft. contours showing
existing drainage patterns as well as other environmentally
sensitive areas; and,
7. A drainage map that reflects drainage patterns
after the use is applied to the property; and,
8. A landscape plan overlaying all areas of the
property not covered by existing or proposed structures.
Landscape is herein defined to include, naturally occurring or
human created existing features such as water courses, rivers,
irrigation works, wetlands, historic sites, critical meadow lands,
important vistas, and other irreplaceable assets shall be
preserved. All significant trees shall be preserved where
possible and where necessary shall be welled and protected
against change of grade;

9. Written explanation of the proposed use, detailing how and when the use requested will be implemented. List of all permits necessary for the proposed use.

10. Assessment and resolution of impacts generated by the proposed use shall be addressed in writing, and may include but is not limited to:

- a. Culinary and waste water systems
- b. Traffic volume, noise and access
- c. Visual impacts
- d. Others deemed prudent by the Planning Commission
- e. Professional evaluation will require a fee.

11. All signs must conform to the Boulder Sign Ordinance. An application for all signs needs to be included with the development plan.

Assessments are to include impacts to adjacent properties, to the neighborhood, and/or to the community at large. Professional analysis of complex issues may be required, if in the opinion of the Planning Commission or their designee, such expertise is necessary for clear and comprehensive understanding of potential impacts that may arise from the proposed use. (Ord. p. 7-8, Record 20-21).

6. The conditional use provision further provides under subparagraph (G)

DETERMINATION that to protect adjacent properties and the public welfare, the Planning Commission shall not authorize a conditional use permit unless evidence is presented to establish:

1. That such use will not, under the circumstances of the particular case, be detrimental to the health, safety, or general welfare of persons residing or working in the vicinity, or injurious to property or improvements in the vicinity, and

that the proposed use of the particular location is necessary or desirable and that provides a service or facility which will contribute to the general well being of the neighborhood and the town.

2. That the proposed use will comply with regulations and conditions specified in this ordinance for such use.

3. The Planning Commission shall itemize, describe, or justify, then have recorded and filed in writing the conditions imposed on the use. (Ord. p. 9, Record 22).

7. On or about January 27, 1999, after May 29, 1998, when the zoning Ordinance was passed, an existing conditional use map of the Town of Boulder was prepared by the Five County Associations of Governments. However, this was not the official zoning map of the Town of Boulder. There was no official zoning map, or corresponding map, formally adopted by the Town of Boulder to coincide with the Ordinance, as set forth in PART IV, Section B, of the Ordinance. (Petition ¶ 14, Record 7 and 22). This is admitted by the Town of Boulder. (Answer ¶s 14 & 15, Record 14-15).

8. As further evidence of this, the existing use map has six (6) different existing uses (See Existing Land Use Map, Trial Ex. "1" and Addendum A), while Ordinance 39 designates nine (9) separate zoning district to be established. (Ord. p. 45, Table I, Record 58).

9. Under each separate district, as designated in the Ordinance, it limits the conditional uses than can be granted under each district; and then the allowable conditional uses are specifically listed. The conditional uses for Greenbelt/Multiple Use

District are: (1) Churches; (2) Publicly funded schools (nursery, primary and secondary schools); (3) Parks and public buildings; (4) Public utilities; (5) Living quarters for hired hands, seasonal laborers, or others receiving compensation for work performed on site; (6) Bed and breakfast establishments; (7) Riding academies, schools and accompanying stables; (8) Dude/guest ranch; (9) Commercial. (Ord. pp. 21-22, Record 34-35).

10. The conditional uses for Medium Density Residential are listed as: (1) child day care or nursery; (2) park or playground; (3) public utilities, essential services; (4) public buildings; (5) commercial. (Ord. p. 24, Record 37).

11. In the existing use map, the Stout Site is designated as Medium Density; and the Thompson Ranch, is designated as Greenbelt/Multiple use. (Trial Ex. "1"). Although the existing use map, is not the official zoning map, and does not have the appropriate identification of the nine (9) zoning districts designated under the zoning Ordinance; under the zoning Ordinance neither the Greenbelt/Multiple Use District, nor the Medium Density District, provide for the conditional use of a contractor's construction business, as relied upon by the Respondents. (Petition ¶ 20, Record 8).

12. "Contract construction" is only provided for in Commercial District No. 9, under the zoning Ordinance. (Ord. p. 27, Record 40). Commercial District No. 9, also has its own Commercial Design Criteria (Ord. p. 28, Record 41). This criteria was never complied with or even addressed in granting the conditional use permits.

13. On or about December 3, 1998, Boulder Excavating Company (“BEC”) tried to apply for a conditional use permit to use the above properties for a commercial construction business. This was never filed with the Town Clerk, so a supplemental application had to be filed, on or about January 12, 1999. (Petition ¶ 21, Record 8).

14. A Planning Commission meeting took place on or about January 27, 1999. Several issues were raised at this meeting by Hatch and other neighbors, including the following: (Record 388, pp.113-114) Hatch also read a letter to the Town (see letter of June 27, 1999; Trial Ex. “8”, Addendum C).

1. BEC was given a business license without a conditional use permit.

2. BEC’s request conflicted with the General Plan of the Town of Boulder, as well as, the Objective set forth in Ordinance No. 39.

3. The conditional use, which BEC sought on the property, was not for any of the conditional uses listed and permitted in the district as designated in the Ordinance and required under Utah Statute. § 10-9-407, U.C.A. (1953, as amended).

4. The conditional use could not be established so as not to be detrimental to others as required under the Ordinance.

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