2000

Julian Dean Hatch and Lynne Mitchell v. Boulder
Town Council, Town of Boulder Planning
Commission and/or Board of Adjustment, and the
Boulder Excavating Company : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Id., at 336-37. Appellants failed to show that the Planning Commission’s approval of the Conditional Use Permits at issue was arbitrary and capricious because they completely failed to show what the Planning Commission and the Town Council did, and what evidence and documents they considered. Because of the presumption of validity accorded to the town’s decision, Appellants were required in the Trial Court to demonstrate that the decision to grant the Conditional Use Permits was not supported by substantial evidence. They completely failed to carry that burden. The Trial Court correctly dismissed Appellants’ petition after they completed introduction of their evidence because they did not produce evidence sufficient to overcome the presumption of validity accorded to the Town’s action.

B. Giving the Planning Commission Discretion to Approve Commercial Uses As a Conditional Use Does Not Make Its Action in Approving the Conditional Use Permits Arbitrary or Capricious.

Appellants claim that the provisions allowing “commercial” as a conditional use either do not include the use for BEC or are so vague that any decision allowing a “commercial” use is arbitrary and capricious. They thus dispute the Trial Court’s Conclusions of Law that the designation of commercial uses as conditional uses is not ambiguous but is a valid and legal designation, that issuance of the Conditional Use Permits was not arbitrary, capricious or illegal, and that Appellants failed to show any

right to relief on their Petition. (Conclusions of Law 3, 4, 5 and 7, R. 324-25, Appellants' Addendum H)

(1) The Proposed Use for BEC Is a Commercial Use Allowed as a Conditional Use Under the Land Use Ordinance.

It is undisputed that the Land Use Ordinance expressly allows “commercial” uses as conditional uses in the districts at issue. Appellants claim that the term is so vague that any decision allowing a commercial use is arbitrary and capricious. Although there is no definition of “Commercial” within the Land Use Ordinance, the various commercial uses allowed as conditional uses in a commercial district (District 9) include contract construction. A statute should be construed as a whole, with all of its provisions construed to be harmonious with each other and with the overall legislative objective of the statute, especially where the statute is ambiguous. *Nixon v. Salt Lake City Corp.*, 898 P.2d 265 (Utah 1995). This functionally defines “Commercial” to include such a business.

In addition, the term “commercial” has a recognized meaning. *Webster's Ninth New Collegiate Dictionary* (Merriam-Webster, Inc. 1986) states the primary definition of “commercial” as “occupied with or engaged in commerce or work intended for commerce.” The word “Commercial” as used in the law of zoning denotes a use for profit. *Imbergamo v. Barclay*, 77 Misc.2d 188, ___, 352 N.Y.S.2d 337, 341 (1973) (quoting 2 Anderson, *American Law of Zoning* §11.01). The terms of a statute (or ordinance) should be interpreted in accord with usually accepted meanings. *Savage*

Industries, Inc. v. Utah State Tax Commission, 811 P.2d 664, 670 (Utah 1991). There can be no question that the use proposed by BEC for these two properties is a commercial use. A trial court's interpretation of ordinances is a question of law reviewed for correctness. *Rushton v. Salt Lake County*, 977 P.2d 1201, 1203 (Utah 1999). The Trial Court correctly interpreted the Land Use Ordinance as authorizing the commercial use proposed by BEC as a conditional use.

Appellants argue that, since the Land Use Ordinance designates some specific commercial uses as conditional uses followed by the general designation "commercial", then the allowed commercial uses are limited to those specifically listed. But the evidence shows that the Boulder Town Council intentionally decided to leave "commercial" as a conditional use even after the Planning Commission recommended it be removed. The intent and understanding of the Town Council and Planning Commission was that commercial is an allowed conditional use, that commercial can apply to any district. "We didn't want to be told we can have businesses only in certain places." (Town Council minutes for June 17, 1999, Exhibit 7 and Appellants' Addendum F). A court's primary rule of statutory interpretation is to give effect to the intent of the legislature. *Savage Industries, Inc. v. Utah State Tax Commission, supra.*, at 671. The evidence clearly shows that the limitations claimed by Appellants are contrary to the intent of the Town Council, which purposely made the broad category "commercial" a conditional use in all districts, allowing the Planning Commission discretion to allow and place appropriate conditions on commercial uses in the districts.

(2) The Land Use Ordinance Provides Adequate Guidelines For Granting Conditional Use Permits.

Contrary to Appellants' claim, allowing "commercial" as a conditional use in the districts at issue does not make approval of a commercial use arbitrary and capricious. The Land Use Ordinance states several requirements and standards to be applied. The Site Development Plan Requirements of Part III F of the Land Use Ordinance (beginning on page 7) state all the items to be submitted with an application for conditional use permit, and allow the site development plan requirements to be waived upon "appeal and justification." Although the Conditional Use Permits are not in evidence, Mr. Hatch testified that the permits "claimed that they had waived--some things had been waived." (R. 388, Tr. 69).

In addition, the Land Use Ordinance directs the exercise of discretion by the Planning Commission. Part III G of the Land Use Ordinance (Exhibit 3, Appellants' Addendum B, beginning at p. 8) governs the determination of the Planning Commission on an application for conditional use permit. It states:

The Planning Commission may permit a conditional use to be located within any district in which a particular conditional use is permitted by this ordinance. In authorizing any conditional use the Planning Commission shall impose such requirements and conditions as are necessary for the protection of adjacent properties and the public welfare. The Planning Commission shall not authorize a conditional use permit unless evidence presented is such to establish:

1. That such use will not, under the circumstances of the particular case, be detrimental to the health, safety, or general welfare of persons residing or working in the vicinity, or injurious to property or improvements in the vicinity, and that

the proposed use of the particular location is necessary or desirable and that provides a service or facility which will contribute to the general well being of the neighborhood and the town.

2. That the proposed use will comply with regulations and conditions specified in this ordinance for such use.

3. The Planning Commission shall itemize, describe, or justify, then have recorded and filed in writing the conditions imposed on the use.

This adequately delineates the matters to be considered by the Planning Commission in determining whether to grant an application for a conditional use permit.

As to what restrictions and limitations should be imposed upon property, and what uses thereof should be permitted, has been by the legislature, committed to the judgment and discretion of the governing body of the city. As long as that body stays within the grant, and purposes fixed by the legislature, the courts will not gainsay (its) judgment.

Marshall v. Salt Lake City, 105 Utah 111, 125, 141 P.2d 704, 710 (1943). Utah statute allows a city to designate conditional uses. U.C.A. § 10-9-407. It was a matter for the judgment and discretion of the Town Council to determine to allow commercial uses as conditional uses within the town of Boulder.

Thurston v. Cache County, 626 P.2d 440 (Utah 1981) was an appeal of the county's denial of plaintiff's request for conditional use permits. As in this case, the plaintiffs claimed that the ordinance provided insufficient guidelines or standards for the issuance or denial of conditional use permits. The Supreme Court stated:

While it is true that a zoning ordinance must set some ascertainable boundaries on the exercise of discretion by a zoning authority, such

boundaries are not required to be unduly rigid or detailed. A generalized exposition of overall standards or policy goals suffices to direct the inquiry and deliberation of the zoning authority, and to permit appellate review of its decision. Thus, courts have upheld ordinances which permit conditional use permits “where the use will be in keeping with the uses authorized in the district,” where the zoning authority was required to consider harmony with the neighborhood and the district, or where the zoning authority was required to consider the suitability of the property, character of the neighborhood, and economic or aesthetic effects of the proposed use.

Id., at 443-44. The Court went on to find that the ordinance at issue there, which provided that the proposed use “not be detrimental to the health, safety, or general welfare of persons residing in the vicinity, or injurious to property in the vicinity” set forth sufficient standards. As well established by the *Thurston* case, the Land Use Ordinance in this case, which allows commercial as a conditional use under very similar standards, does not make every decision granting a conditional use permit for a commercial use arbitrary or capricious.

The Washington and Colorado cases cited by Appellants in support of their argument on this point are not contrary. The court in *Indian Trail Property Owners Ass’n v. City of Spokane*, 886 P.2d 209 (Wash. App. 1994) found that the ordinance there had sufficient guidelines so that the application of the zoning ordinance to allow expansion of a grocery store and shopping center were not arbitrary and capricious, in view of the enumeration of specific uses and site development requirements in the ordinance. In *Sherman v. City of Colorado Springs Planning Commission*, 763 P.2d 292 (1988), the court held that an ordinance which required a site development plan but contained no standards regarding the exercise of discretion in reviewing that plan made the City’s

action in denying a permit invalid. Here, as discussed above, there are adequate standards to guide discretion.

The Town Council determined to allow “commercial” as a conditional use. That decision has been committed by the legislature to the discretion of the Town Council, and the Land Use Ordinance provides sufficient guidance to the Planning Commission in exercise of that discretion. The requirement for a conditional use permit for commercial uses allows the Planning Commission to review the intended use and set limitations so that the business is compatible to the area. That is exactly what occurred in this case. Approval of the conditional use permits to BEC was not arbitrary and capricious.

POINT III

APPROVAL OF THE CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS WAS NOT ILLEGAL

Appellants repeatedly argue that there was no map to establish what parts of Boulder Town are in what Districts. Although there is evidence that a map exists and that the parties knew and agreed upon the districts involved in this case (See Statement of Facts, ¶4, *supra.*), their claim could accomplish nothing for them. As the District Court correctly stated: “If the Appellants were correct that there was no map, then there was no zoning to be enforced, and therefore no Conditional Use Permits could be required for the land uses intended by BEC. The lack of a map could not provide a basis for challenging the Conditional Use Permits issued pursuant to the zoning ordinance.” (Conclusion of Law 3, Addendum I). If there is no zoning, then there was nothing to be permitted and therefore, issuance of the Conditional Use Permits would simply be a

meaningless act not subject to attack. At the hearing, Appellants' counsel agreed that if the Land Use Ordinance was void when the Conditional Use Permits were issued, then "this petition would be moot." (R. 388, Tr. 17).

POINT IV
CLAIMS NOT RAISED BY THE PETITION OR
PRESERVED BY BEING RAISED IN THE TRIAL COURT
SHOULD NOT BE CONSIDERED ON APPEAL

A. The Petition Made No Claim That the Land Use Ordinance is Unconstitutional or is Itself Illegal.

Issues 1 and 2 listed by Appellants in their brief include claims that the Land Use Ordinance is unconstitutional and that the Land Use Ordinance itself is illegal and therefore void. These claims were not raised by the petition in the court below, as an examination of that petition (R. 1-61) will show. The Petition's first paragraph states that Appellants: "petition this Court, as provided under statute, for a judicial review of the granting of conditional use permits approved by the Town of Boulder's Planning Commission and/or Board of Adjustment, and upheld by the Boulder Town Council; and for injunctive relief to prevent, enjoin, prohibit, or remove the unlawful building, use or act, which may or are about to occur on the properties at issue." Paragraph 8 of the Petition states: "The Appellants have exhausted their administrative remedies and are now seeking judicial review in this Court, pursuant to Utah Statute, § 10-9-1001, U.C.A. (1953, as amended), for a determination that the granting of the conditional use permits, under the facts and circumstances of this case, was arbitrary, capricious, or illegal." Paragraph 17 of the Petition alleges that provisions allowing "commercial" as a

conditional use without meaning, definition, or parameters has allowed the Planning Commission to proceed in land use decisions in an arbitrary, capricious, and illegal manner, such as in this case. The prayer for relief requests judicial review finding that the granting of the conditional use permits under the facts and circumstances of this case was arbitrary, capricious, or illegal, and therefore void and of no consequence. The petition raised the issue whether granting of the Conditional Use Permits was proper. It did not assert that the Land Use Ordinance was itself unconstitutional or illegal. To assert constitutional claims on appeal, parties generally must assert them first in the trial court. *Bunch v. Englehorn*, 906 P.2d 918, 921 (Utah App. 1995). Having failed to raise these claims in their petition, these claims cannot be asserted for the first time on appeal.

B. Appellants Never Objected to Consolidation of the Hearing for Preliminary Injunction with the Trial of the Merits of the Petition.

One who fails to make a necessary objection or who fails to insure that it is on the record is deemed to have waived the issue. *Lamb v. B & B Amusements Corp.*, 869 P.2d 926 (Utah 1993). Specific and timely objections and motions must be made before the lower tribunal, then identified for the appellate court. *State v. Whittle*, 780 P.2d 819, 820-21 (Utah 1989). Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 24(a)(5) requires counsel to cite to the record in briefs showing preservation in the trial court of each issue raised or appealed. Issue 5 and Argument V of Appellants' brief make the claim that the Trial Court abused its discretion by consolidating the preliminary injunction hearing with the trial of the merits. However, that claim was waived for failure to object to the

consolidation in the Trial Court.

The Trial Court granted a motion by BEC and the Boulder Town defendants that the trial on the merits of the action be consolidated with the hearing on the application for preliminary injunction. Rule 65A(a)(2) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure allows the Court to do exactly that. It provides in relevant part:

Before or after the commencement of the hearing of an application for a preliminary injunction, the court may order the trial of the action on the merits to be advanced and consolidated with the hearing of the application.

Appellants intimate that they had inadequate notice of the potential for consolidation. The intent to make such a motion was disclosed by BEC's Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Preliminary Injunction, Argument II (R. 184-185), mailed to their attorney on August 27, four days before the hearing on the motion for preliminary injunction, and three days after the Summons, Petition, and Notice of the Hearing were served on BEC. At the hearing, counsel for BEC requested that the court consolidate the hearing with a trial on the merits during opening statement. (R. 188, Tr. 29).

Neither during the hearing or at anytime after the hearing did Appellants ever raise any objection to the consolidation of the preliminary injunction hearing with the trial of the merits or make any statement of any additional evidence which could only be produced at a later trial. They claim for the first time on appeal that the consolidation was an abuse of discretion. Having failed to raise this issue in the Trial Court or to

suggest to the Trial Court any reason which would mitigate against the consolidation in the interest of judicial economy, this court should not consider their objection to the consolidation on appeal.

C. Appellants Never Claimed That the Trial Court Didn't Consider Evidence, or That It Relied on the Arguments of Counsel.

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